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PREFACE 
 
 
 
When I got the news that Saturday afternoon in May 1994, I was stunned. 
For twenty years Ralph Turner, a pioneer in the field of forensic science, 
had been my friend and mentor, and now he was gone. In the years after 
Ralph’s death, we transferred the last of his papers to the Michigan State 
University Archives and Historical Collections, and then had them 
processed and made available for researchers. Nearly twenty years later, I 
started thinking about writing about Ralph’s life; before then, it would have 
been too painful for me to take on such a project. When I did feel I could 
write this book, I first talked with the Turner family, beginning with his 
widow, Arnella. She was very encouraging, and when I later broached the 
idea to his children, Richard, Georgia, and John, they also were supportive. 
Arnella and the Turner children all were very generous with their time, 
speaking with me at length about their father and their family life, which 
has made my work so much easier. 

Forensic scientists study the details of a crime and report their findings 
to a court of law. They analyze evidence using a variety of methods, 
mathematical principles, instruments, and microscope techniques. Some 
forensic scientists work in laboratories, while others conduct their analysis 
at the scene of the crime. After analyzing the evidence, they draw links 
between a criminal suspect, a victim, and a crime scene. They then explain 
the findings of their analysis and describe how they reached their 
conclusions in a report, which they cite while testifying in court. Although 
some forensic science techniques and assumptions have been criticized, the 
field’s evidence-based approach has been an invaluable asset to law 
enforcement and criminal justice.  

But when Ralph Turner entered the University of Wisconsin as an 
undergraduate in 1935, the field of criminal justice, and especially forensic 
science, was still in its infancy. At Wisconsin, Ralph was fortunate enough 
to encounter Professor J. Howard Mathews, one of the American pioneers 
in the field. While studying under Mathews, Turner became committed to 
forensic science. For his part, Mathews recognized Ralph’s talents and 
remained his mentor and friend for the rest of his life.  

Turner’s distinguished career began with his establishing the crime 
laboratory at the Kansas City Police Department, which soon became 
recognized as one of the best in the country. After almost a decade with the 
KCPD, Turner moved from law enforcement to academia—Michigan State 
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College, where he not only flourished but, because of his innovations, 
became an internationally recognized expert in forensic science.  

The story begins for me in the early spring of 1974, when I became the 
assistant director of the Michigan State University Archives and Historical 
Collections. Jim Denison, a friend of the director who had worked for years 
at the university and was now a retired volunteer working occasionally in 
the Archives, asked me one day to join him for lunch at the MSU Union. 
Jim took me to a table at which sat several faculty and administrators who I 
later learned called themselves the “Knights of the Union Round Table.” 
The group’s makeup was very eclectic, comprising faculty from Criminal 
Justice, Microbiology, Horticulture, and the Library, as well as the director 
of the office of Student Services and the manager of the Union. The 
members ranged in age from early thirties to eighties, with the median age 
the mid-fifties. The Knights liked to discuss a variety of topics, and although 
their opinions could diverge widely, the discussions always remained 
collegial. Afterwards I thanked Jim for introducing me to this interesting 
group and for inviting me to their table. 

The next day I sat by myself at a table in the Union and just as I began 
eating my lunch Ralph Turner, professor of criminal justice and one of the 
Knights at the lunch table the day before, asked if I was interested in joining 
their group. I did, and thus began a decades-long association with one of the 
most fascinating individuals I have ever known. From the first time I joined 
the Knights at their table, Turner made a point of including me in various 
activities. He would often host events at his home, and I became a regular 
guest. Whatever the occasion, there was always stimulating discussion. As 
I became better acquainted with Ralph and his wife Arnella, I began to 
understand that Ralph was not only a fascinating and generous person, 
probably the closest thing to a Renaissance man I have ever met, but also a 
giant in the field of forensic science. 

Arnella didn’t think that his experiences growing up were particularly 
significant in his choosing to become a forensic scientist, but they certainly 
did not dissuade him from that path. His father, Ralph W. Turner, was the 
sexton at the Wanderers Rest Cemetery in Milwaukee and his 
responsibilities included the management of the church cemetery. During 
winter, the ground was sometimes frozen so thoroughly that it took extra 
time to dig a grave. Occasionally the delay meant that coffin and corpse 
were placed in Ralph’s room overnight, until burial the next day. Ralph’s 
high school friends liked to joke that if necessary, Ralph could always “dig 
up” a date.  

As a teenager, he became a big fan of Sherlock Holmes and read all of 
Sir Arthur Conan Doyle’s stories about the detective. This passion outlasted 
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his adolescence: later on, he would become a member of the national Baker 
Street Irregulars, a literary society dedicated to the study of Holmes, Dr. 
Watson, Conan Doyle, and the Victorian world. One time shortly before 
Ralph was leaving for New York City for the annual meeting of the society, 
he mentioned that Isaac Asimov, the renowned science fiction writer, was a 
member. I had been an avid reader of Asimov’s works since I was a 
teenager, so I asked Ralph if he could get Asimov to autograph one of his 
books for me. He said he would try, but he was leaving later that day so I 
had to get him the book right away. I immediately went across the street to 
a local bookstore, bought one of my favorite Asimov books, and was able 
to get it to Ralph as he was leaving the parking lot. True to his word, Ralph 
got the book autographed for me, and it remains one of my treasured 
possessions. 

The more I got to know Ralph, the more I came to realize what a 
significant role he played in the development of forensic science in the 
United States, and in the world. Today, due to television programs and 
prominent court cases, the public has become aware of the critical role of 
forensic science in the legal system. But when Ralph was embarking on his 
career as a forensic scientist, the field was in its infancy in the United States, 
and not a whole lot further along in other parts of the world. It was not until 
I started researching this book, however, that I began to really appreciate 
the magnitude of his contributions. 

As a student at the University of Wisconsin, Ralph studied chemistry 
with J. Howard Mathews, who was becoming a nationally recognized figure 
in forensic science. Mathews and Turner hit it off from the start and soon 
Ralph became Mathews’ assistant. Professor Mathews was particularly 
interested in the identification of firearms, and he was often called upon to 
testify as to the identification of a firearm in court. Ralph became such an 
expert in this aspect of forensic science that, as Mathews’ assistant, he 
would testify about his findings even before he graduated from Wisconsin.  

Ralph spent almost a decade at the Kansas City Police Department, 
setting up from scratch its crime laboratory. There he began his research on 
alcohol and its effects on driving. He would continue this research at 
Michigan State College (later Michigan State University), which resulted in 
the first scientific study for identifying drunk drivers based on blood alcohol 
levels. His research became the cornerstone for the nationwide adoption of 
blood alcohol as the basis for determining the legal level that constituted 
drunk driving. 

From his time at Michigan State College throughout his career, Ralph 
Turner was dedicated to improving the work of forensic science and making 
it a recognized scientific field. When Dr. Rutherford B. H. Gradwohl 
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organized the first meeting of interested parties in what would become the 
American Academy of Forensic Sciences, Ralph was there. He served as 
secretary-treasurer at the preliminary meetings that led to the group’s 
establishment and was subsequently elected its first secretary-treasurer, a 
position he held for several years. 

In the 1950s, Michigan State University became involved in a United 
States Agency for International Development (USAID) program to assist 
the government of South Vietnam. Ralph Turner’s role was to help them 
establish a modern crime laboratory. He first spent two summers in South 
Vietnam, and later he and his family lived there for two years. The project 
later became very controversial on campus during the years of protest 
against the Vietnam War. In Vietnam, Ralph met President Ngo Dinh Diệm 
several times, and although he was no supporter of some of Diệm’s policies, 
Turner was shocked and upset by his assassination in November 1963. He 
was even more disturbed by the subsequent assassination of President John 
F. Kennedy just a few weeks later. At the time, the Turner family was in 
Taiwan, where Ralph was teaching on a Fulbright scholarship, and 
communication from home was slow. As he learned more about the 
Kennedy assassination, including the refusal of the Warren Commission to 
accept the American Academy of Forensic Sciences’ offer to provide gratis 
expert consultation, Turner became a student of the assassination. He never 
accepted the verdict of the Warren Commission, and to his last day believed 
there had been a conspiracy to kill the president. He based this on the 
physical evidence and his many years of experience with firearms 
identification and ballistics. Later Ralph was asked to be a member of the 
panel of experts who reviewed the evidence in the Robert F. Kennedy 
assassination. 

One of Ralph’s enduring interests was the history of forensic science, 
an interest the MSU administration shared. Before his mentor Professor 
Mathews died on April 15, 1970, he bequeathed his papers to Ralph. Ralph 
then approached me about donating Mathews’ papers to MSU, which I 
readily accepted for the University Archives and Historical Collections. 
Michigan State University has one of the oldest and most eminent criminal 
justice programs in the United States. Mathews’ papers, which are available 
to researchers at the Michigan State University Archives and Historical 
Collections, are critical assets to the field and to the documentation of its 
history. Mathews was a pioneer in forensic chemistry, ballistics, and the 
identification of firearms. Ralph had maintained his own personal papers 
documenting his career in an extensive and meticulous fashion, and I was 
very pleased when he agreed to donate his papers to the university. Ralph 
and I also undertook a project to collect the papers of prominent members 
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of the forensic science community to augment the excellent materials we 
already had in the archives. I traveled with Ralph to meetings of the 
American Academy of Forensic Sciences to promote this project, and we 
succeeded in our mission. Ralph, however, died suddenly from a heart 
attack on May 22, 1994, and the project ended with his death. 

This book documents Ralph Turner’s landmark contributions to 
forensic science, which revolutionized the field. But I also have aimed to 
give my readers not only an account of his accomplishments but also a sense 
of the man. Ralph’s genuine interest in people and his ability to connect 
with them was one of his greatest qualities. Shortly after coming to 
Michigan State College, Ralph became acquainted with Erle Stanley 
Gardner, the well-known author of the Perry Mason mysteries, among other 
novels. The forensic scientist and the crime novelist hit it off from the start, 
and they maintained a lifelong friendship. Gardner gave a lecture to Ralph’s 
class early in his tenure at MSU, and through Ralph’s sponsorship Gardner 
became the first non-scientist member of the American Academy of 
Forensic Sciences. When Ralph took a sabbatical to obtain his master’s 
degree from the University of Southern California, he and his family were 
often Gardner’s guests at his California ranch outside of Los Angeles. 
Gardner dedicated the Perry Mason mystery novel The Case of the Green-
Eyed Sister to Ralph Turner and his pioneering work in forensic science. 
Chapter 5 of this book explores the long-lived Turner-Gardner friendship in 
detail.  

This volume begins with Turner’s early, formative years in Milwaukee, 
where, as a teenager, he photographed children who had died, providing 
visual documentation for grieving parents at a time of high childhood 
mortality rates, and became an avid reader of Arthur Conan Doyle’s 
Sherlock Holmes stories, a passion that influenced his decision to make a 
career in criminal justice and forensic science. Successive chapters detail 
his experiences as a researcher at Michigan State University; his pioneering 
work on alcohol and its impact on driving, which brought scientific rigor to 
law enforcement; his key role in establishing the American Academy of 
Forensic Sciences; his experiences in Vietnam; and his scholarly and expert 
witness involvement in the Kennedy assassinations.  

In researching and writing this book, my goal has been to document 
Ralph Turner’s achievements and their lasting significance. I hope that my 
efforts have succeeded not only in that regard but also in capturing the 
essence of a remarkable man I am proud to have called a friend and mentor.  
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CHAPTER ONE 

THE EARLY LIFE:  
MILWAUKEE, NEW YORK CITY,  
MADISON, AND KANSAS CITY 

 
 
 
Ralph Turner, the man who would help revolutionize forensic science in the 
United States—and beyond—was born in Milwaukee, Wisconsin, on 
October 18, 1917. He was the youngest of five children born to a church 
sexton, Ralph W. Turner, and his wife, Amanda Schmidt Turner. All of his 
siblings were girls, which Ralph’s wife, Arnella, believed significantly 
influenced his childhood development. Milwaukee at the time was 
populated mainly by people of German descent, the main difference among 
them being religious affiliation; that is, whether one was Protestant or 
Catholic.  

Growing up, Ralph was doted on by his sisters and mother. His father 
had been a semi-professional baseball player and hoped that Ralph would 
be an athlete like him, but Ralph was a poor athlete. He did, however, 
develop a lifelong interest in, and love of, athletics. He loved to wager on 
basketball and football games with his colleagues, especially if he could get 
them to agree to the often outrageous odds he wanted on the games. 

Photography became one of Ralph’s earliest interests and a money-
making endeavor when he was in high school. Ralph paid for his equipment 
and supplies by photographing dead children for their parents. Mortality 
rates for infants and children were much higher back then than they are now, 
and for many parents these photos were the only record they would have of 
their deceased children. In 1973, author Michael Lesy published his 
nonfiction book Wisconsin Death Trip, which depicted the harsh conditions 
of rural Wisconsin life during and after the 1890–1910 depression era. 
Lesy’s book was based on photographs that Charles Van Schaick had taken 
mostly in the Black River Falls area, as well as on news accounts from the 
time. Lesy used, and, controversially, often altered for artistic purposes 
photos of dead babies and children in coffins. Ralph and I had several 
discussions about the integrity of Lesy’s altering photographic records. 
Although Ralph felt that it was wrong of Lesy to alter the images, he knew 



Chapter One 
 

2

from his own experience that Lesy had accurately depicted the hard times 
rural Wisconsin residents endured under a collapsing economy. 

Some have speculated that young Ralph’s peculiar experiences with the 
dead—which were not confined to photographing corpses—influenced 
Turner’s future career choice, criminal forensics. His father, a church 
sexton, was responsible for the management of the Wanders Rest Cemetery. 
In the winter, the cemetery ground sometimes was frozen solid and graves 
could not be dug. So Ralph sometimes had to share his bedroom with a 
coffin and a corpse. At times, because of rigor mortis or decomposition, the 
bodies would move. Ralph would tell his friends about his “roommates” and 
their involuntary movements. His high school yearbook slyly alluded to his 
experience as a cemetery sexton’s son by noting, “Ralph never had a 
problem digging up a date.” 

Ralph’s wife Arnella, however, did not think that her husband’s 
youthful proximity to the dead was the reason Ralph decided to pursue a 
career in criminal justice and forensic science. She instead pinpointed a 
literary influence: Sir Arthur Conan Doyle’s Sherlock Holmes stories. 
According to Arnella, as a teenager Ralph read all of the Sherlock Holmes 
books and developed a lifelong fascination with the fictional detective, and 
with crime and deductive reasoning. Turner even joined the Baker Street 
Irregulars, a prestigious and exclusive literary society founded in the United 
States by Christopher Morley in 1934. Members of the society were each 
assigned a character from one of the Sherlock Holmes books, and they 
would assume their persona when they attended the Irregulars’ annual 
meetings in New York City. In Turner’s case he was the character Colonel 
Carruthers. The science fiction author Isaac Asimov was one of the society’s 
most famous members; on one occasion, Ralph, at my request, got Asimov 
to autograph two of his books for me.  

Arnella Krug Turner was born in 1917 and grew up in Milwaukee about 
six blocks away from her future husband. They first met as members of the 
same church, Bethany Lutheran. They attended the same high school, and 
both participated in its theatrical productions.  

Arnella grew up two blocks from Washington Park, where her Dad 
loved to take her and her sister. There they could play baseball in the 
summer, toboggan in the winter, and otherwise enjoy being outdoors as a 
family, which her father liked to do. Her father worked as a salesman for 
the Johns Manville Asbestos Shingles Company, while her mother stayed 
at home raising the children. Arnella’s mother also did volunteer work, 
including teaching gym classes for women at the local YWCA. Arnella’s 
grandparents were immigrants from Germany, and they and her parents 
would often talk in German if they wanted to discuss something they did 
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not want Arnella or her sister to know. However, Arnella and her sister knew 
a fair amount of German from hearing it around her parents and 
grandparents so they often knew exactly what was being said. 

Both Ralph’s and Arnella’s parents went to the same Lutheran church, 
which is where they first met. Growing up, Arnella had some rather 
eccentric neighbors. One individual dressed like a Kentucky Colonel, with 
a white goatee and pale gray suits and hats. He raised horses that he would 
race, and their barn had large rats that scared Arnella. In the winter he would 
take his horses south to race them, and often told Arnella he would take her 
with him, but of course was only teasing her. His wife and sister-in-law who 
lived with them always wore dresses to the ground and shawls. In their 
neighborhood they clearly stood out from the rest of the residents. 

Arnella did very well in school and at one point skipped half a grade 
because of her academic achievements. She especially liked courses in 
science, speech, English, and German. She said she always regretted that 
she did not take a typing class, which was not offered as part of the college 
curriculum she took. When she found out that she was the class 
valedictorian, she told the news to her friends in between classes. 
Unfortunately, the school had a policy of no talking between classes, so she 
got detention. Her parents were ecstatic that she was the class valedictorian; 
they were very pleased for her and congratulated her on her achievement. 
However, her grandfather, who was living with them at the time, told her 
parents, in German, “Don’t speak like that in front of her. You’re not 
supposed to praise children.”1  

In high school Ralph was busy with his studies, the photography club 
where he had several prize-winning photographs, and the stage crew for the 
theater club. He asked Arnella out on a date during their sophomore year, 
and years later she remembered it was to go roller skating. She said he had 
such a good time with her that it was another two years, their senior year, 
before Ralph asked her out again! (Arnella had a wonderful dry sense of 
humor and wit, and she used it often.) After that they started dating 
regularly. 

Arnella said it was her high school speech teacher who inspired her to 
go to college. Her speech teacher was a graduate of Milwaukee-Downer 
College (the campus is now part of the University of Wisconsin–Milwaukee) 
and helped Arnella get into Downer. Located three blocks from Lake 
Michigan, Downer was a women’s liberal arts college that specialized in 
physical therapy and home economics. Arnella received a scholarship for 

 
1 Frederick L. Honhart, “Oral History Interview with Arnella K. Turner,” Oct. 30, 
2002, Okemos, MI. 
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$100 dollars a semester, which was paid in $10 increments throughout the 
semester. Downer had dorms for out-of-town students and required the 
faculty to live on campus. To make that possible the school provided 
apartments for the faculty. Every Friday there was a tea in the library that 
all students were required to attend, which is how Arnella developed her 
lifelong affinity for drinking tea.  

The death of his father, Ralph W. Turner, in 1952 also had a notable 
impact on Ralph’s outlook on life. Arnella said that Ralph saw every day he 
lived past 50, the age at which his father died, as a special gift to be enjoyed 
to its fullest. After he graduated from high school in 1934, Ralph enrolled 
in the University of Wisconsin at Milwaukee, where he studied for two 
years. Two years later he transferred to the University of Wisconsin–
Madison, where he took classes from chemistry Professor J. Howard 
Mathews. Mathews had developed an interest in the scientific study of 
crime, and how science could be used in criminal investigations. He and 
Ralph hit it off from the beginning, and very soon Ralph was Mathews’ lab 
assistant.  

Professor Joseph Howard Mathews was one of the earliest pioneers in 
the new field of forensic science. Born in Auroraville, Wisconsin, on 
October 15, 1881, he attended school in Omro, Wisconsin, and Berlin, 
Wisconsin. Mathews then enrolled in the University of Wisconsin and in 
1903 graduated with a degree in chemistry. While at the university, he 
helped found Alpha Chi Sigma, the chemistry professional fraternity. A year 
later he returned to the university to obtain an MS. degree in chemistry for 
his work on electrolyte conductivity with Professor Kahlenberg. He 
subsequently went to Harvard University where he received an MA. 
Mathews then took a teaching position at the Case School of Applied 
Science in Cleveland, Ohio, but only taught there for one year. The next 
year he returned to Harvard to work with T. W. Richards in the field of 
physical chemistry, receiving his PhD in 1908.  

Mathews then returned to the University of Wisconsin as an assistant 
professor in the department of chemistry, being promoted to Associate 
Professor in 1911. He took leave from the university during World War I, 
enlisting in the United State Army where he rose to the rank of Major. 
Among his various duties while in the Army was to explore the problems of 
gas warfare. With the end of the war Mathews returned to the university 
where he would spend the rest of his career. He was appointed chairman of 
the department in 1919, a position he would hold until his retirement in 
1952. During that time he would build the department into one recognized 
for its outstanding teaching of undergraduates and excellence in research. 
For over twenty years he campaigned for a new chemistry building. The 
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Chemistry Research Building was finally started in 1950 and completed in 
1952. 

Dr. Mathews’ initial research at Wisconsin was in the field of physical 
chemistry. However, he became increasingly interested in using chemistry 
and the physical sciences in the newly developing field of criminology or, 
more specifically, forensic science. In the 1920s and 30s Mathews would 
develop a real expertise in this field, so much so that he was in considerable 
demand to appear as an expert witness, normally for the prosecution. He is 
credited with developing one of the earliest comparison microscopes, which 
was invaluable in helping to identify bullets from specific guns. Another 
equally important accomplishment was the development of a machine to 
accurately record the lands and grooves in a bullet, which could then be used 
to identify the type of gun it came from, if not the actual gun. He also built 
a stereo camera for forensic use, which, given Ralph’s lifelong interest in 
photography, would have been of particular interest to him. Another device 
that Mathews and Turner worked on while the latter was a student at 
Wisconsin was the eccolograph. This was a device they hoped would 
identify a used shell casing with the gun from which it was fired. Mathews 
finally gave up on this, determining that because of the variability of the 
distortion from one shell to another after being fired by the same gun, spent 
shells could not be used as reliable evidence to determine in what gun they 
were used, in the same way that a fired bullet could often conclusively 
identify the gun from which it was fired. This then was the teacher who 
would have a lifelong influence on Ralph and his career. Ralph never forgot 
what opportunities were provided and the many doors that were opened 
because of his association with Mathews, and many times over the course 
of his life would he in one way or another thank Mathews for what he did 
for him, and hope that he was living up to Mathews’ expectations. 

Throughout his career Mathews would often be consulted about a 
crime, almost invariably by the prosecution, and subsequently appear as an 
expert witness in the case. Ralph worked with him on these cases as well, 
and he would also testify in such cases. This was the start of his long career 
in forensic science, and the first of his five decades as an expert witness, 
whether for the prosecution or defense. Turner also helped Mathews with 
his class experiments, including one time where he was given scopolamine, 
better known as truth serum. He answered whatever questions were asked 
of him, which Arnella said included several very personal questions. Some 
were about their relationship; they were both at Madison at that time and 
dating. Arnella said she was glad she was not there when those questions 
were asked. 
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However, that promising start to what would become Turner’s long 
career in forensic science almost ended before it began. Ralph had a 
pronounced stutter that he suffered from the time he was a teenager. Ralph’s 
mother took him to a specialist at the University of Iowa to see what could 
be done to help her son with his stuttering. However, it would not be for 
several more years before his stuttering was brought under control. 

In the middle of his first term at the University of Wisconsin–Madison, 
Ralph’s mother was summoned to the Dean of Men’s office. Referring to 
Ralph’s stuttering, the dean told her that the University of Wisconsin was 
not a place for “defective people” and that Ralph would have to leave.2 Mrs. 
Turner would have none of that. She went over the dean’s head to contact a 
university administrator to plead Ralph’s case. She succeeded, and Ralph 
was able to continue his studies at Madison. 

But Ralph’s stuttering remained an obstacle to his professional 
ambitions. He decided to seek treatment with the psychoanalyst Smiley 
Blanton. During the summer of 1938, he traveled to New York City, where 
he, along with others who suffered from stuttering, worked with Blanton to 
overcome the problem.  

Blanton was born in Unionville, Tennessee, in 1882. He studied 
medicine at Cornell University, receiving his MD degree in 1914. He was 
subsequently trained in psychiatry at Johns Hopkins University. After 
military service in World War I, Blanton enrolled in the Royal College of 
Physicians and Surgeons in London, where he earned a degree in neurology 
and psychological medicine. He taught at the Universities of Wisconsin and 
Minnesota, where he began studying children and their psychological 
problems. At the University of Wisconsin, he worked with children with 
speech problems. In 1929, he moved to New York City to practice 
psychoanalysis.  

An opportunity soon arose for him to leave New York to work with 
Sigmund Freud in Vienna, Austria. He spent almost a year with Freud being 
psychoanalyzed. Freud also discussed with Blanton at length his (Freud’s) 
analytic techniques, which would have a major impact on Blanton’s 
treatment of his patients. After completing his work with Freud, Blanton 
returned to New York City and set up his practice. He remained in contact 
with Freud, visiting him again in the summer of 1935 and in 1937. 
Concerned about the growing anti-Semitism in Austria, Blanton urged 
Freud to leave before he was imprisoned or killed by the Nazis. In August 
1938, Blanton saw Freud for the last time, in London, where Blanton 

 
2 Turner family correspondence, author’s copy, June 23, 1938. 
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underwent a final week of psychoanalysis, shortly before Freud underwent 
surgery for cancer. 

Ralph became aware of Blanton’s work with speech therapy, especially 
with stutterers. (Blanton with his wife Margaret Gray Blanton had written a 
1936 book, For Stutterers, which may have been how Ralph learned about 
him and his work.) In the summer of 1938, when he was twenty years old, 
Ralph decided to undergo therapy with Smiley Blanton. Treatment was 
expensive, and Ralph paid for it from his savings and with money borrowed 
from his family.  

On June 17, 1938, Ralph Turner left Milwaukee to embark on what he 
would later call the most important experience in his personal development. 
Boarding a Greyhound bus, he traveled more than twenty-four hours to New 
York City for treatment with Dr. Smiley Blanton. He had arranged for his 
patients to stay at the International House, a few blocks from Columbia 
University. Ralph liked the location, but he thought that the meals were 
expensive: dinner at the International House cafeteria cost 59 cents. 

The day after Ralph arrived in New York, he had his first meeting with 
Blanton. Ralph’s initial impression of the doctor was favorable. Blanton’s 
assistant, Ida Whitten, took Turner and a group of others who sought 
treatment with Blanton on an outing that included a ferry ride to Staten 
Island and a walking tour of Broadway and Times Square. The sightseeing 
and socializing helped dispel the initial loneliness Ralph felt in the Big 
Apple. 

In a June 23, 1938, letter home, Ralph discussed the results of his 
therapy to date. While only fleetingly mentioning the actual therapy, he 
wrote that working with Smiley Blanton was giving him a “slant on things 
which I believe very few people have.” One of Blanton’s techniques was to 
build up his patients’ self-confidence. In his letters Ralph repeatedly reports 
how positive he feels and how much progress he is making while reassuring 
his parents that he was not trying to paint an overly optimistic picture. Ralph 
believed he was obtaining genuine insight about the reason for his failures, 
observing, “The reason is so deep, it’s hard to explain.” What is rather 
remarkable is that he said this after having been in New York for little more 
than a week. He was learning how to deal with failure; he didn’t lose hope 
in the progress he was making even after he flunked a mathematics course.3  

According to Blanton, “Stuttering interferes with and deadens one’s 
intelligence.” Blanton observed that Turner’s stuttering rendered him a 
twenty-year-old with the subconscious mind of a child. The focus of 
Blanton’s therapy, then, was to make his patient’s mind “grow up.” Ralph’s 

 
3 Ibid., June 29, 1938. 
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subconscious had dominated his ego, thereby causing his stuttering, 
insecurity, and bouts of depression. Turner accepted this explanation, which 
enabled him to change.  

In a letter to his mother, he told her that he was learning “how to live 
and live a life I really can love and enjoy.” He was confident that his therapy 
would help him be happier while also benefiting his future work.4 But Ralph 
was also impatient with himself, believing that unless he made significant 
progress each day in therapy he was wasting time. Blanton had to tell him 
to go easier on himself, and assure him that he actually was making the most 
progress of any of his students.5  

Ralph, however, did not describe the actual therapy he underwent with 
Blanton. In our conversations many years later, Ralph explained some of 
the exercises Blanton had him undertake. One was to approach a stranger 
on the street and ask for directions to a location in the city. Another was to 
go into a restaurant and order a meal. But the challenge Blanton gave his 
students was to change their restaurant orders at least three times—
intimidating enough for anyone who stutters, but even more challenging for 
an out-of-towner ordering in a New York City restaurant. Some forty years 
later, Ralph would recall the experience to me with intense emotion. 

In addition to his therapy with Blanton, Ralph was spending considerable 
time with the New York City Police Department. Dr. J. Howard Mathews 
provided Turner an introduction to the department and Ralph took it from 
there. He met with Captain Harry F. Butts of the department’s ballistics 
bureau, and planned to observe Butts testify in a trial. 

Ralph and his friend, a Dr. Ferguson from Toronto, acquired the habit 
of taking walks in the city. One evening they decided to walk through 
Harlem. Blanton and his assistant urged them not to do so, insisting that it 
was far too dangerous. On June 22, 1938, shortly after their visit, a riot broke 
out in Harlem, initiated by young Harlem residents. Ralph’s Harlem 
walking tour demonstrated one of his essential lifelong traits: his curiosity 
about people, issues, and events. That curiosity overcame any concerns he 
might have had for his safety as a white man walking in Harlem.  

He was more concerned about the cost of living in New York City. The 
International House was comfortable, but the cost of lodging and meals was 
too much for his budget. He checked out what was available in the 
neighborhood and in July decided to move into the YMCA on West 63rd 
Street. 

 
4 Ibid., July 1, 1938. 
5 Ibid., July 11, 1938. 
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Ralph’s main reason for coming to New York was to get help for his 
stuttering. But he also took advantage of his time there to explore and 
experience what the city had to offer. When his Canadian friend Dr. 
Ferguson decided to give his girl an engagement ring, he asked Ralph and 
his date to accompany them so they could raise “a little hell.” Ferguson was 
then going to have his fiancée meet with Smiley Blanton to see if they were 
properly suited to be married.  

Ralph told his father that he was following his advice about girls: to 
play the field. But while he was doing that in New York, Ralph did not 
forget about his girl back home, Arnella. When he found out that she’d been 
injured in a freak accident involving her getting hit by a golf ball in the leg, 
which kept her off her feet for a month, Ralph asked his mother to visit her 
with some flowers, and to tell her they came from him. 

Dr. Blanton wrote to Ralph’s mother to tell her that, less than a month 
after Ralph started treatment, he was making considerable progress and that 
he expected Ralph to complete his therapy by the end of the month.6 Ralph 
wrote home to say that he was maturing and gaining self-confidence. He 
described his time in New York as the best experience of his life, and one 
that he wished could continue. And like so many young men who left home 
to find themselves in the metropolis, he asked for money to tide him over. 
But his stay would not be open-ended; he wrote to his sister Lil, who ran a 
boarding house in Madison where he would be staying when he returned to 
attend school in the fall.  

Turner’s therapy became more demanding, with two daily sessions 
over a period of two weeks. Just how demanding Blanton’s therapy was can 
be seen in his sending home other students whom he felt were not making 
sufficient progress. Ralph, Blanton’s prize pupil, developed a personal 
relationship with him that would last until Blanton’s death in 1966. Ralph’s 
visits to the New York Police Department also proved fruitful; the director 
of the department’s crime lab in Brooklyn made him an offer at a salary of 
$2,000, ($34,768 in 2017 dollars).  

Turner also visited Walter G. Summers, a Jesuit priest who led the 
psychology department at Fordham University in the Bronx. Summers had 
invented a lie detection device known as the psycho-galvanometer. Unlike 
the polygraph, which measures changes in blood pressure, pulse, and 
respiration rates, Summers’ device measured minute changes in electrical 
charges in the body. Lying causes stress in the body, and Summers’ psycho-
galvanometer was based on that principle. Ralph thought that it was a better 
machine for determining if someone was lying than the lie detector. 

 
6 Ibid., July 29, 1938. 
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Summers would die on September 24, 1938, at the age of 49, only a few 
weeks after Ralph’s visit with him. 

By the end of July 1938, Ralph was completing his therapy with Dr. 
Blanton. The bill came to $1,340 ($23,295 in 2017 dollars), a great deal of 
money in 1938. But for Ralph, the results were worth the cost. Smiley 
Blanton’s therapy had changed his life, putting him “in good shape to cope 
with the future.” He would years later write to Blanton and his assistant Ida 
Whitten, to tell them that he now was able to give lectures to students at 
Michigan State University, which he would not have been able to do without 
Blanton’s therapy. His New York experience would remain important to 
him for the rest of his life.  

In an interview with Victor Strecher, an early student of Ralph Turner 
at Michigan State University, he would comment on Ralph’s speech 
impediment. 

 
“Because of his speech impediment he was a very deliberate careful teacher, 
and his style of delivery was not especially liked by a lot of students. They 
would get impatient. He would hang on a word and then get out a cigar. 
Today that would be unthinkable, but he would get out a cigar and he would 
handle it a little bit and sometimes he would light it if he really got hung up. 

Well the impediment, over the years, really changed a great deal. Back 
then, it was still a little bit severe. He told me at one time, when he took over 
the Kansas City Crime Lab in in 1938, . . . he told me he could barely speak 
at all. It was very hard for him to communicate, and sometimes on the 
witness stand that was difficult. But by this time he used to tell me, ‘Well, 
at one time I couldn’t talk and now I make my living talking’ and he was 
quite proud of the fact he had beaten it. 

But I was one of those who thought, ‘Well, he does take a long time to 
say things, but he is the most thorough preparer’ I’ll tell you how thorough. 
I took police records management from him and a lot of students would say, 
‘Ah, that stuff.’ Then years later in 1962, I was assistant director of planning 
in the St. Louis Police Department, and we had to red our entire record 
system. We were going to move into new quarters and computerize it. 
Everything that Ralph taught in 1952 worked ten years later in St. Louis. 
Every single thing. Master name index files, numbers connected with 
alphabetic file. Everything. All the principles he taught were manual, how 
to run the records bureau, and it was about half Ralph Turner. Just 
astonishing how well he had taught me because I just plain remembered 
what he has taught me.”7 

 

 
7 Frederick L. Honhart, “Oral History Interview with Victor Strecher,” Feb. 4, 2003, 
University Archives and Historical Collections, Michigan State University, East 
Lansing, MI [hereafter UAHC-MSU]. 
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Before returning home, Turner visited the New York State Police crime 
lab in Schenectady. There he met with Dr. Bradley H. Kirschberg, head of 
the newly formed scientific laboratory of the New York State Bureau of 
Criminal Investigation. The lab opened in 1936, and its services were 
available twenty-four hours a day to any police agency and district 
attorney’s office in New York State upon request. Ralph’s visit to the lab 
was described in the lead paragraph in an article about the lab published in 
the Schenectady newspaper on August 2, 1938. Turner’s position as an 
assistant to noted ballistics expert Dr. J. Howard Mathews of the University 
of Wisconsin was mentioned along with his thorough investigation of the 
laboratory 

His return trip back to New York City was not so easy, as the boat from 
Schenectady was late on arrival and Ralph had to rush to make his train to 
Philadelphia. There he met his relative Flo who drove them to Woodstown, 
New Jersey, a well-known resort location at that time. While there, they 
spent several days touring the area and enjoying the sights and relaxing, 
after which Ralph took a train to Washington, D.C., where he stayed at the 
YMCA, commenting on its rather shabby condition. He spent another three 
days in D.C. touring the city and visiting the many sites. The weather was 
very hot, in the low 90s every day, and he complained about how 
uncomfortable it was while he was there.  

On Friday, August 12, Ralph boarded a Greyhound bus for Chicago; 
there he caught another bus to Milwaukee, where his father and Arnella 
were waiting for him. Thus ended what may have been the most important 
two months of young Ralph’s life. The work with Smiley Blanton would 
have a lifelong impact on Ralph’s self-image and self-confidence, enabling 
him to overcome his stuttering and embark on a remarkably successful five-
decade career. 

Arnella completed her teaching degree at Madison at the end of Ralph’s 
second of his three years at University of Wisconsin–Madison. She took a 
position with North High School in Sheboygan, Wisconsin, in 1938 and 
taught there until 1941 when she and Ralph were married. According to 
Arnella, she and Ralph only saw each other five times after she left Madison 
until they were married three years later. They did stay in touch through 
frequent letters to each other. Ralph’s penmanship was so bad that Arnella 
could read the letters at her desk during class time without having to worry 
about any of her students being able to read them. 

One incident that Arnella never forgave was the school administration 
putting her in the tower room of the high school, which previously had been 
used for band practice. Because of its location, it was isolated from other 
classrooms and teachers. To get to the room one had to go up a narrow 
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hallway and no one outside the room could hear what was going on. 
Students recognized the situation and for a while took advantage of it, 
“cutting up” and other-wise misbehaving. This ended when one of the larger 
boys in the class stood up and said it was time to stop the nonsense, and 
anyone who did not like it would have to go through him. After that Arnella 
said she had little trouble with rowdy behavior from her students. 

At the end of his senior year Ralph started looking for a job in the field 
of forensic science. One of the places he interviewed was the Chicago Police 
Scientific Crime Detection Lab (more commonly known as the Chicago 
Crime Lab), one of the very first to be established in the United States. This 
interview occurred after the notorious St. Valentine’s Day (February 14, 
1929) massacre between warring gangs in Chicago at the height of 
Prohibition. After Ralph’s interview with the Chicago Crime Lab its 
director, Fred Inbau, wrote to Mathews saying they were very impressed 
with him and would like more information about him. Mathews wrote back 
a glowing letter of recommendation about Ralph, listed the courses he had 
taken at Wisconsin, and noted that in addition Ralph was an excellent 
photographer. He told Inbau that Ralph was of excellent character and came 
from a good family and he, Mathews, knew both parents. Professor 
Mathews also addressed directly Ralph’s speech impediment and how much 
it had improved in the last two years. (This time period follows the summer 
that Ralph spent in New York City with Smiley Blanton and Miss Whitten 
undergoing speech therapy.) Mathews stated in his letter to Fred Inbau that 
“I believe that you will find Turner to be a capable, versatile, conscientious, 
and dependable laboratory man and I have no hesitation in recommending 
him to you.”8 He concluded by saying he only wished that he could keep 
Ralph at Madison to continue working with him. 

Ralph’s speech problems prompted Inbau to follow up with another 
letter to Mathews again stating how impressed they were with Turner, but 
were concerned about the speech issue and “if it may lend itself to further 
corrective measures.” Professor Mathews responded to Inbau in a letter 
dated May 8, 1939, regarding Ralph’s speech. He said that Turner had made 
very definite improvements in his speech since Mathews first became 
acquainted with him, and that two years ago Ralph was very much 
discouraged with his speech problem, “but now he has an entirely different 
attitude toward life as he feels that he is very definitely improving. This is 
fully corroborated by the members of the Speech Department.” Mathews 
goes on to say that there is nothing wrong with Ralph physically as far as 

 
8 J. Howard Mathews to Fred Inbau, April 26, 1939. J. Howard Mathews Papers, 
UAHC-MSU. 



The Early Life 13 

his speech, but that it was a mental matter. He tells of the occasion where as 
part of a class experiment Mathews demonstrated the use of scopolamine, 
“truth serum” on Ralph. While under the influence Ralph’s speech was 
perfectly normal. He also mentions that a few days earlier Ralph had talked 
for an hour to a university speech class and had no problems doing so. 
Mathews said he thought the stress of the interview with Inbau might have 
accentuated Ralph’s speech issues. He concluded by saying that he did not 
see Ralph’s speech as a serious problem and that his “other fine qualities 
counter balance this deficiency.”9  

For whatever reason, Ralph did not get the job with the Chicago Crime 
Lab. The interview did, however, start a lifelong professional and personal 
relationship with Fred Inbau. This interest in people, and maintaining 
contact with them, was a lifelong trait of Turner’s. Because of this he was 
able to work with hundreds of people in the profession and elsewhere, which 
was a great asset in his career. As it turned out, Ralph was offered the job 
of setting up a crime lab in Kansas City for the Kansas City Police 
Department. So in the summer of 1939 Ralph moved to Kansas City and 
quickly established himself as a rising star in the area of forensic science. 

Ralph immediately threw himself into the work of creating a crime lab 
for the Kansas City Police Department. This would involve working 
sixteen-hour days, which Mathews once told him was too much. One of his 
first accomplishments was the creation of a fully equipped lab car for going 
to crime scenes. As the nature of the work meant that Turner was on call 
twenty-four hours a day, he would take the car home at night in the event 
he was called out on a case. In one instance when a wiretap investigation 
was being undertaken, Ralph climbed up a telephone pole posing as a 
lineman.  

Ralph was very successful in building up the Kansas City Police 
Department Crime Laboratory from basically nothing into one of the best-
equipped crime labs in the country. In his letters to Ralph, Professor 
Mathews often expresses his admiration and envy at the latest piece of 
equipment Turner had purchased for the lab. He envies that Ralph was 
obtaining lab equipment that Mathews did not have in his lab for his work, 
and that because of limited university funding was not able to purchase. 
Turner’s hard work and competence are clearly recognized by the KCPD, 
as he regularly received salary increases from the start of his time there.  

As head of the crime lab, Turner often had to be present at autopsies. 
All too often the body in question was a “floater” found in the Missouri 
River. The odor from the decomposing body could be overwhelming. The 

 
9 Ibid. 



Chapter One 
 

14

coroner introduced Ralph to the use of cigars as an olfactory barrier to cover 
up the stench of decaying flesh. This—smoking cigars—would become a 
trademark of Ralph until his heart attack in 1985. After that incident, Ralph 
never smoked another cigar or cigarette. 

Even though he was creating and managing the crime lab, Ralph was 
always interested in the academic side of the profession. One of the first 
things he did after getting job at the Kansas City Police Department was 
work with Fred Inbau whom he had met when he interviewed for the 
position at the Chicago Crime Lab. Inbau was the editor of the Journal of 
Criminal Law and Criminology. He contacted Turner about publishing part 
of his thesis in the journal, who in turn contacted Mathews, for his input on 
the offer. Mathews was supportive, but had a number of concerns. First and 
foremost was, that before anything was published, he, Mathews, could have 
the opportunity to review the manuscript and make whatever corrections he 
thought necessary. In a letter to Ralph in early 1940, Mathews asks that no 
mention be made of the eccentrograph device to measure shell cases they 
had worked on. With regard to their work together on comparison camera, 
stereo camera, and the diphenylbenzidine test for gunshot residue, Mathews 
wanted Turner to acknowledge in any article that they improved upon work 
previously done by others.10 Turner ended up publishing part of his 
academic thesis as an article in Inbau’s journal. 

While living in Kansas City, Ralph made the acquaintance of the U.S. 
House of Representatives member Harry S. Truman. This was through a 
shrimp eating syndicate that Ralph joined. The group would meet every 
Friday noon in the back room of their favorite Kansas City saloon. There 
they would share a 500 lb. block of iced shrimp and trade stories. Truman 
was a member of the group, and when he was in town he would regale the 
members with tales “from the seat of government” as he referred to the 
federal government in Washington, D.C. (According to his friend Vic 
Strecher, from that time onward Ralph would use that phrase to describe the 
federal government.) At the same time Truman’s friends would kid him 
about his early associations with the Pendergast gang when he was first 
getting started in local politics. And Truman would give back as good as he 
got it. 

One thing Ralph was not amused about was the Pendergast machine 
interfering with his criminal investigations. On more than one occasion 
when one of the “gang” was on trial, Turner would attempt to go get the 
evidence on the day of the trial only to find that someone had broken in and 

 
10 J. Howard Mathews to Ralph Turner, Jan. 31, 1940. J. Howard Mathews Papers, 
UAHC-MSU. 
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removed it. When the Pendergast machine was defeated at the polls in 1939, 
Ralph commented that he was glad to have been a part of the process to 
remove it from Kansas City politics.11  

Arnella recalled that she and Ralph were at friend’s house having 
Sunday dinner on December 7, 1941, when they heard on the radio about 
the attack on Pearl Harbor by the Japanese. Everyone listened with shock 
and interest, and then went about their business as best they could. 
Throughout the war years Ralph expected to get called up for military 
service, but never did. Once in a letter to Mathews he said “when the time 
comes for me to go I’ll be ready and very anxious to do my best wherever I 
may land in the army.”12  

As the war went on, a big military base was built outside Kansas City, 
and Ralph was often called in to help with criminal investigations on the 
base. This was in addition to his duties with the KCPD, which included 
becoming an expert in civil defense. Initially around twenty members of the 
department were trained, after which it became their job to train other 
members of the police force. Ralph was one of the original members of the 
KCPD to receive this training and then would subsequently train other 
members of the department. He shared copies of the civil defense 
documents the KCPD prepared with Mathews, on a semi-confidential basis, 
to help Mathews with the same work he was doing in Madison. 

While the war was going on, Ralph continued to be interested in and 
explore other job opportunities. Just prior to the attack on Pearl Harbor, 
Ralph had considered and subsequently turned down a position with the 
Chicago Crime Lab. In that position he would have worked in “firearms 
identification and . . . chemistry and document examination.”13 Mathews 
expressed surprise that Ralph would turn down a position with the Chicago 
Crime Lab, but noted that Ralph had certain equipment at his lab in Kansas 
City that the Chicago Crime Lab did not. Also, this was right after Fred 
Inbau, the director of the lab, had resigned due to political pressure. The 
uncertainty with the leadership of the lab was another reason Ralph rejected 
the offer. In early 1942 Ralph turned down an offer from the Missouri State 
Highway Patrol. He also considered applying for a job in Madison, but 
Mathews thought it would be a bad idea for Ralph to take it. The Madison 
job was not nearly as responsible as the one he has at Kansas City, and the 
salary would be considerably less. 

 
11 Victor Strecher, “Tales of Ralph Turner,” unpublished manuscript of Ralph Turner 
stories by Strecher, author’s copy. 
12 Ralph Turner to J. Howard Mathews, July 20, 1942. J. Howard Mathews Papers, 
UAHC-MSU. 
13 Ibid., Oct. 7, 1941. 
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A few years later, in 1944, Ralph was offered a position with the 
University of Washington to help establish a police training program. 
Returning to an institution of higher learning as a professor had been a goal 
of his for several years. He had been continually assembling notes and 
recording material that would be of value in organizing a crime detection 
laboratory course. His first choice would have been to return to the 
University of Wisconsin, but no opportunities materialized there. Ralph 
turned to his draft board and asked them what his status would be if he 
accepted the offer to go to Seattle. The draft board told him he would 
become 1-A and subject to immediate call-up. This, combined with the 
salary and other concerns about stability of the program, lead Ralph to turn 
down the offer.14  

Turner continued to work on his scholarship during the war years, 
despite the workload at the KCPD and his additional duties working with 
military intelligence on a regular basis to assist with crimes committed on 
the base. In 1943 he wrote an article on the use of infrared photography. It 
was published in The Technician, the journal of the Missouri State Police. 
In August of 1945 Ralph traveled to Boston, Massachusetts, to study the 
examination of blood and precipitin testing. He did this at the Boston 
University Medical School under the direction of Dr. William Boyd. 

With the end of the World War II Ralph turned his attention to writing 
a syllabus of forensic science laboratory techniques. He sent a copy to 
Professor J. Howard Mathews to review, explaining that it was not a 
textbook, “but rather a laboratory outline, to be used in connection with 
suitable texts on police science.”15 Turner wanted Mathews’ critical review, 
as he had drawn heavily on the work of Mathews’ writings in the book. A 
year later Ralph received a contract from the Charles C. Thomas Company 
to publish his book. In a letter to Mathews he notes that Charles C. Thomas 
had just published Dr. LeMoyne Snyder’s book, Homicide Investigation: 
Practical Information for Coroners, Police Officers and Other Investigators. 
At a medicolegal symposium in Springfield, Illinois, on April 17, 1947, 
Ralph appeared on a panel with LeMoyne Snyder and Captain Harold 
Mulbar of the Michigan State Police. A few months later he accepted a 
position at Michigan State College with the Police Science Department. 
Two years earlier he had met with Dean Tom King of Michigan State 
College, who was interested in bringing Ralph to East Lansing, once they 
were able to expand the college facilities so a course in forensic science 
could be taught. Ralph consulted with Fred Inbau and Charlie Wilson about 

 
14 Ibid., May 9, 1944. 
15 Ibid., Nov. 30, 1946. 


